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1.0 Background

The author was asked by Scottish Water Solutions to carry out an evaluation and photographic record of Stemster old school building, in advance of a proposed development consisting of the construction of a new reservoir, immediately south of the existing reservoir. As a surviving, although ruinous, example of a pre-1872 school, the building is of local interest, and a comprehensive evaluation and photographic record will enable all interested bodies to include the building in studies and databases despite its demolition. This report is not intended to provide a complete history of the school, although some readily accessible sources were consulted to provide a framework for interpretation of the structure.
2.0 Methodology

The following data sources were consulted during a brief desk-based assessment;

· Census returns for 1861, 1871 and 1881, held by the Genealogy Service within Inverness library.

· 1st and 2nd edition Ordnance Survey maps, held by the Map Library within the National Library of Scotland in Edinburgh

· Ordnance Survey Name Book, held by the RCAHMS in Edinburgh

The following books or articles provided further background information:

· Beaton, E. 1996, Caithness: An Illustrated Architectural Guide
· McCallum, R. 1972 A Century of Education in Caithness in D. Omand ed. The Caithness Book

A measured and photographic survey of the buildings was carried out on 10.11.04, with the support and assistance of representatives of Morrison Construction Services, Ltd. Light conditions were poor but adequate.
3.0 History of the School
As early as 1696 an Act of Parliament decreed that a school should be established in every parish, with accommodation and a salary for the school teacher provided by the heritors, but it is not until after a further Act in 1803 that the more remote areas were served by the establishment of side schools, similar to the parish schools but with no obligation on the part of the heritor to provide accommodation for the teacher. Stemster school, however, is more likely to have been established after the Disruption of 1843, as it is noted on the 1871 Census Return as a F.C. (Free Church) school house. However, the precise date of its construction is unknown. The building is not mentioned on the 1861 Census return, but may have been ignored as not technically a residence. Its exclusion in 1861, and its mention in 1871 but not as a residence, does indicate that a teacher’s accommodation was not attached to the school.
The Ordnance Survey Name Book, compiled between 1871 and 1873 notes: Stemster School. A small school for the benefit of the children in the Stemster district, kept up by the public subscription. Property of A. Henderson Esq. of Stemster. Unlike other Name Book entries for schools in Caithness, it does not record the number of children attending the school, but 42 children in Stemster are listed as scholars on the 1871 census. The census also records the occupation of one Catherine Swanson, aged 20 and living with her family, as teacher.
R. McCallum in A Century of Education in Caithness, lists John Esplin as the teacher at Stemster in 1870-72, but this name does not appear on the 1871 Census return. It is, however, likely that Esplin, from Forfar and aged only 23 in 1872, was appointed when the Education Act of 1872 made the provision of elementary education for all children aged 5 to 13 compulsory. The Act gave the responsibility for this to the newly elected parish School Boards. Bower School Board made the decision to rebuild Stemster School in a new location, on the road between Stemster Mains and Knockdee; this was completed in 1877 and John Esplin installed as teacher. The 1881 census return records Esplin as resident in the new school’s attached accommodation, his occupation given as teacher of elementary school. Also living in the school accommodation were a servant girl and one Alexander Miller, aged 17, a pupil teacher, while, living with his parents elsewhere in Stemster is recorded one David Murray, aged 34, teacher, Public School. The number of children recorded as scholars on the 1881 census, meanwhile, has halved over 10 years to only 21.
The decision to relocate the school away from Stemster hill, and the marked reduction in scholars, appears to reflect a major abandonment of crofts on the high ground between 1871 and 1881.
4.0 Location
The building is located at ND 174 626, and stands on enclosed high ground immediately to the south of the existing Stemster reservoir. There are now no inhabited houses on this high ground, although the land is still farmed, and the landscape contains a number of abandoned croft buildings. Most of these appear to have been abandoned in the late 19th century although a few are of later date. The number of croft buildings does suggest a fairly high population in the 19th century, probably allocated this high ground when Stemster home farm was established.
5.0 Building Description 
The building is roofless, but with walls to full height. There is little debris within the main schoolroom, suggesting that the roof was dismantled and removed rather than collapsed. A few roofing slabs are stacked in the byre
The original design of the school building was probably simply one school room without any teacher’s accommodation. Beaton’s Caithness: An Illustrated Architectural Guide illustrates two examples of custom-built pre-1872 school buildings: at Achavanich (Rangang Subscription, ND 179 441) and Ousdale (ND 075 204) Both are plain, single-storey and one-roomed buildings with generous windows and a small attached porch on one gable and are assumed to have been constructed in the mid-19th century.(See photos, below) 

[image: image2.jpg]


                    [image: image3.jpg]



1.  Ousdale school                                                               2.  Rangang Subscription School, Achavanich

(Taken from Beaton: Caithness, an Architectural Guide, pp 11 and 106)
These examples would suggest that there was originally a porch attached to the east gable of Stemster school, with access to the schoolroom through the doorway in the gable wall. However, there was also a doorway in the south frontage, originally to the west with one window central and one to the east. There is no visible trace of an original porch under the later additions, and it is possible that it did not exist and that the gable end doorway is an alteration to allow access to the post-school accommodation and byre.

There are chimneys in both gable walls, with the typical Caithness style of rectangular slab set on edge above the fireplace. This slab is missing from the east fireplace but the cavity is clearly visible. Inexplicably, there also appears to have been a fireplace on the outside of the west gable, although there is no visible trace of any extension in this direction. This aperture is offset from the fireplace on the interior wall, so is not a product of demolishing a part of the gable wall to insert a flue. This offers the possibility of an extension on the west gable which has now been completely removed, and which had no direct access to the schoolroom.

The earliest available accurate map of Stemster, the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, shows the school building as a roofed rectangular building standing on unimproved ground and with no attached enclosures. The 2nd edition OS map, however, indicates both the school room and the other parts of the building attached to the east, and an attached square enclosure. This suggests that, after its abandonment as a school, it was converted for use as a small holding. The history of this later phase of use was not investigated further during this evaluation.
 The additions to the original schoolroom consist of :

a. Rectangular addition to the east gable, measuring 4.5m in width but of an indeterminate length as this addition was subsequently removed down to footings. This was set at right angles to the school building, on a NW-SE long axis, parallel to the present road.
b. Byre, measuring internally 8.3m by 2.8m and divided into three compartments by flagstones set on edge. There are two doorways in the west long wall and access via a collapsed doorway in the south wall of feature c. The layout of the buildings suggested by the 2nd edition OS map is that this byre originally extended north to adjoin the now removed south wall of feature (a)., and could have been entered through the doorway in the schoolroom east gable. There is a break in the east wall where there is now a window and a drain opening at ground level. This break may have been caused by the dismantling of a section of wall to allow the insertion of these features. Within the byre are stacked a number of flagstone roofing tiles, possibly the original roofing material of the schoolroom. This is on the same NW-SE axis as feature (a)
c. Porch, measuring internally 1.5m by 1.7m, of very rough construction and partially collapsed, also infilled with rubble which obscures any lower features. The only function of this porch appears to have been to allow access from the schoolroom to the byre via the doorway in the schoolroom east gable. Logic suggests that this postdates feature (a)., and was possibly added when the schoolroom was converted to a farm cottage
None of these features are keyed into the original schoolroom walling

Probably at some date after the abandonment of the building as a school, the doorway in the schoolroom south wall was converted to a window, and the central window converted to a doorway. This would have allowed a more conventional layout  for a cottage of window-door-window. There is now no trace of internal partitions, although there are traces of plaster on the walls.

6.0 Chronology

The following is a possible chronology for the different phases of construction:

1. Between 1843 and 1871 Construction of school room, possibly with a porch on the east gable and also either in the original build or added later, an extension on the west gable, with fireplace. This fireplace must be contemporary with the internal fireplace and flue within the west gable and these may have been inserted at a later date than the original schoolroom construction
2. Between 1872 and 1877 (?) addition of extension, feature a., possibly to provide accommodation for the newly appointed teacher
3. Between 1877 and 1906 Addition of byre. Conversion of schoolroom into farm cottage. Construction of attached enclosure.

4. Post-1906  Demolition of extension, feature a. Construction of porch, feature c. to allow access from cottage to byre.

7.0 Photographic Record

Cover: Buildings from the SW. On the left is the schoolroom, to the right the byre (feature c.) Upright slabs in the right foreground are the remains of the attached enclosure.

1. Schoolroom from the SW showing frontage with two windows and doorway. To the right, the byre, and in foreground, upright slabs of attached enclosure.

2. View from North of back wall of schoolroom, showing infilled central window and concrete skew on the far gable, probably representing a re-roofing in the late 19th century.
3. SW gable end of schoolroom, from SW, showing fireplace, also lack of any trace of an extension onto this wall.

4. Exterior of schoolroom original doorway, later infilled to be a window.

5. Exterior of schoolroom original central window, later adapted to doorway. On the back wall, infilled central window. In foreground, upright slabs of attached enclosure.

6. Exterior of schoolroom east window. To the right, exterior doorway into byre.

7. Interior view of schoolroom original doorway, later infilled to be a window

8. Interior view of schoolroom original central window, later adapted to doorway, but without straightening the splay. Removal of the lower courses of walling below the window opening appears to have been very roughly done and not rebuilt to form a neat edge
9. Interior view of schoolroom east window. Beyond, collapsing west wall of byre.

10. Interior view of original doorway through NE gable wall of schoolroom, now infilled. Left of this, wall collapse represents the fireplace and flue.
11. Exterior view of small central window opening in NW wall of schoolroom, partially infilled.

12. Interior view of small central window opening in NW wall of schoolroom, with wooden safe lintel in situ.

13. Fireplace and flue in NE gable end of schoolroom. The lintel slab is removed, but its outline can still be seen

14. Fireplace and flue in SW gable end of schoolroom. The indent above the existing lintel slab suggests a second, smaller slab, now removed. The flue inclines left to the centre of the gable wall.
15. Exterior fireplace in SW gable end of schoolroom, now infilled, and remains of lintel slab. The flue is now blocked with rubble and fill, but inclined left to the centre of the gable wall.

16. Feature (a). extension added to NE end of school building. View from SW along the north, back wall of the schoolroom, indicating how this extension does not follow the line of the original wall, and is not keyed in at all.

17. Feature (a) extension, view from NE showing the greater part of this feature reduced to low footings, running to centre foreground. Behind, centre, is the schoolroom, and to the left is feature (b), ‘porch’

18. Feature (b) ‘porch’ attached to NE gable end of schoolroom, view from north. In the foreground are footings of feature (a) and on the far left is feature (c), byre.

19. View of byre, feature (c), from ESE.
20. View of byre from SE, showing gable end. To left, background, is schoolroom.

21. SW wall of byre and central doorway, showing severe outward lean of SE section of wall.

22. Exterior view, from west, of more northern doorway into byre, with some wooden doorframe intact. To the left is schoolroom east window

23. Interior view, from east, of north doorway into byre, with schoolroom behind and porch to the left. In centre are upright slabs forming first byre partition

24. Exterior view, from west, of south doorway into byre. On back wall, behind, is the wall break and small window, in front of which is an upright slab forming second byre partition.

25. Exterior view, from east, of byre east wall, showing wall break, small window opening and drain opening at ground level.

26. Interior detail of byre east wall, showing wall break and small window opening.
27. View from SE of two upright slabs forming first byre partition, with stacked roofing slabs in foreground

28. View from east through north doorway of byre to show north side of upright slabs forming first byre partition

29. View within byre from NW, of upright slab forming second, partial, byre partition.

30. View from SE within byre, of upright slab forming second, partial, byre partition.

8.0 Plans

1. Location Plan

2. Ground plan of buildings at 1:100 scale.
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